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Chief Executive Officer's statement

Background

Relance GeneMedix 1s a globally-focused biopharmaceutical company, specialising in the development and
manufacture of high-quahty, cost-effective treatments for some of the world’'s most sernous diseases Since
February 2007, the company 1s part of the Reliance Life Sciences Group of companies The Company 1s working
towards the development, manufacture and marketing of a portfolio of biosimilar recombinant therapeutic proteins
for global markets

Business overview

| am pleased to present the results for the financial year 2009 - 2010, durning which the Company reached the final
phase of 1ts development programme for Erythropoietin (EPO) The Company i1s close to completion of clinical
development and 1s applying to the European Medicine Agency for Market Authorisation for its lead product EPO
in EU Reliance Life Sctences continues to market EPO in India The company has also obtained regulatory
approval In EU for chinical tnal of its second product Granulocyte Colony Stimulating Factor (G-CSF)

In this time of difficult external financial and economic conditions, the Company has been able to sustain its
product development programmes based on the financial support received from Reliance Life Sciences The
Company has also been successful in containing operational costs The Company also continues its efforts to
obtain approval for launching EPO in other markets

Financial review

Operating losses of € 2 225 millien (2009 € 4 014 milkon) for the penod are in ine with the budgets and reflect
planned expenditure The group continues to exercise a stnct control on costs In order to conserve cash

The group has capitalised development expenditure of € 4 376 mullion (2009 € 5 409 million) incurred on the EPO
development programme, post the receipt of clinical tnal approval Current assets and current hiabilihes are in line
with the ievel of operations of the group

The expenditure dunng the year was financed through a loan from Reliance Life Sciences It 1s envisaged that the
future funding requirements of the company titl the EPQ EU market launch will also be met through an additional
loan from Reliance Life Sciences

Board changes
There has been no change in the board of directors

Employee commitment

| would like to thank the staff of the Company for therr contnbution in the development and manufactunng
programmes and lock forward to their ongoing commitment for achieving new milestones In the coming year The
Board is committed to talent and skill development through internal and externat training inthiatives and also to
reward employees for excellent performance

Vinay Ranade
Chief Executive Officer
30 August 2010
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Directors, Secretary and Advisors

Non-Executive Directors

Dr R. A. Mashelkar — Non Executive Chairman

Dr R A Mashelkar, aged 67, was appointed as Non-executive charman of the company on 24 January 2008 Dr
Mashelkar 1s an emmnent scientist with an outstanding academi¢ record and has held a number of very high profile
positions n the field of science and technology He i1s presently the President of Global Research Alhance, a
network of publicly funded R&D institutes from Asia Pacific, Europe and USA with over 60,000 scientists He was
the President of the Indian National Science Academy (INSA) Pnor to this he served as Director General of
Council of Scientific and Industrnial Research (CSIR) Dr Mashelkar has 27 honorary doctorates and was only the
third engineer to have been elected as Fellow of Royal Society (FRS) London in the twentieth Century

Mr. Dileep Choksi — Non executive director

Mr Dileep C Choks, aged 60, 15 a Fellow Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India — Rank
holder, a Bachelor of Law, and a Member of the Institute of the Cost and Works Accountants of India and has over
35 years of experience in the field of finance Mr Choksi 1 a Non-Executive Director of several leading pnivate
companies, including ICICI Lombard General Insurance Co Ltd, ICICI Prudential Asset Management Co Ltd, ICICI
Home Finance Company Limited, State Bank of India, Ahmedabad Commodity Exchange Limited He was also a
trustee of Child Relief and You (CRY), an organisation that rs dedicated to the education and welfare of
underpnwvileged children Mr Choksi was also the Vice Charman of Deloitte Haskins & Sells in India until his
retirement in March 2008

Mr. Atul Dayal — Non executive director

Mr Atul Dayal, aged 60, 1s a Solicitor and has been in practice since 1974 Until March 1998, he was a partner
with M/s Kanga & Co , a leading firm of Advocates & Soliciters iIn Mumbai and from Apnil 1998, has been practicing
as the sole proprietor of M/s A S Dayal & Associates For about 20 years he has been handling lega!l matters of
the Rehance Group of companies, as theirr main legal advisor

Executive Directors

Mr. K. V. Subramaniam — Executive director

Mr Subramaniam, aged 52, 15 the President and CEO of Rehance Life Sciences He 1s a Chemical Engineer from
Madras University and a Management Graduate from the Indian Institute of Management, Ahmedabad He started
his career with Indian Petrochemicals Corporation Limited, where he spent fourteen years in several functions He
Joined Rehance Industnies Limited in 1994 to lead the corporate business development function, where he was
involved 1n several new iniatives of the organisation 1n petrochemicals, power, infrastructure, agrnculture and
insurance Mr Subramariam has been instrumental in conceving and developing Reliance Life Sciences, which
has several programs covenng stem cells and tissue engineenng, molecular diagnostics and genetics, therapeutic
proteins, biopolymers, brofuels, biochemicals, plant biotechnology, clinical research and contract research He
serves on the Board of the Institute of Chartered Financial Analysts of India (ICFAI), Hyderabad, and 1s on the
Board of institute of Chartered Financial Analysts of india (ICFAI) University, Mizoram
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Mr Vinay Ranade — Chief executive officer

Mr Ranade, aged 42, was appointed as CEO of the company from 1 January 2008 Mr Ranade 15 a Chartered
Accountant and a management graduate by qualfication and has over 19 years of experience in vanous fields
including investment banking, finance and commercial functions, business, projects and operations He has been
a core team member in developing the biotechnology inthiatives at Rellance Life Sciences since 2001 He has
been associated with the Company during the acquisition process since December 2005 and has been part of the
integration team since that date In his role as CEOQ, he 1s responsible for ensuring that the company’s objective of
delivening high quality, cost effective bhopharmaceuticals to a global healthcare market 15 achieved and will be
developing R&D programmes of the company following its acquisition by Reliance Life Sciences
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Directors’ report

The directors present theirr report on the affairs of the group and the audited finanoal statements for the year
ended 31 March 2010 The comparative period Is for the year ended 31 March 2009

Principal activities

The pnncipal activities of the Company and Group are the development and manufacture of biopharmaceuticals,
tncluding biosimilars, which are a generic version of iInnovative recombinant therapeutic proteins There are plans
of expanding the business in the future to include sales and distnbution

The Company’s key financial performance indicators during the year were as follows

€000
3132010 31.3.2009 Change (%)
R&D cosls 4,547 5,833 (22)
Operating loss 2,225 4,014 (45)
Loss before tax 2,504 4,065 (38)
Sharehotders' funds 10,179 11,723 (13)
Intangible assets 12,620 8,246 53

Operating loss decreased by 45% mainly in hne with lower level of activity dunng the year as well as strict control
over costs

Loss before tax reduced by 38%

The decrease in Shareholders' funds is due to the results for the year

Intangible assets increased by 53% on account of capitalisation of development costs of €4 376 million

Business review
Please refer to Business overview section as set out in the Chief Executive Officer’s statement on page 3

The Company and the environment
The Company's environmental responsibility spans from raw matenals, conversion into products and product
impact after use The Company 15 committed to work on reducing the use of energy, and other resources as well

as mmnimise waste generation The waste treatment meets high environmental standards

Going Concern

After making enqutries, the Directors have reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue 1n operational existence for the foreseeable future For this reason, they continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparnng the financial statements
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Principal risks and uncertainties
The Group's business 1s influenced by a range of facters, some of which may be beyond the control of the Group

and its Board The nsk factors set out below are mostly shared by all other biopharmaceutical companties

Regulatory approval

The chinical evaluation, manufacture and marketing of the Group's drug candidates and its ongoing research and
development activities are subject to regulation by government and other regulatery agencies in countries where
the Group intends to test or market products Many countnes, including all members of the EU and the US, have
very high standards of appraisal and, accordingly, the approval process can be lengthy It 1s noteworthy that
regulatory process in EU for biosimilars s well defined and 1s relatively iess ngorous as compared to regulatory
process for an innovative product

Commercial launch
The Group 1s intending to market its own products in vartous markets around the world including EU The Group
has currently no access to any marketing, sales or distnbution functions in its mamn market, EU

Competition and Market share

The Group's competitors include, amongst others, major pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies wath
substantaliy large financial resources There 1s no assurance that the Group's competitors’ strategies and
products would not adversely affect the market shares that the Group can gain

Global economic environment

Many countries in which the Group currently operates and plans to expand in the future are facing recession and
expenencing hquidity problems and constrained credit availabiity Such conditions may pose challenges in
achieving the sales targets and also may adversely affect Group's ability to raise capital

Key performance indicators (KPIs)

Research and development costs have reduced as compared to research and development costs In the last year
It is noteworthy that the progress of the Group in its product development programmes I1s as planned

The Directors believe that completion of ongoing development programmes of EPQO and G-CSF, launching its
products in new markets outside EU, and achieving operating efficiencies to reduce product costs are the KPIs for
the Company to be successful in achieving commercial efficacy

Results and dividends
The loss for the penod was € 1 544 (2009 € 2 768 milion)

In view of the accumulated |osses of the Company, the Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend for the
year (2009 € mil)
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Research and development

Reliance GeneMedix 1s now a part of the Relance Life Sciences Group which has extensive research and
development programmes, commercial and R&D infrastructure facilities in India Dunng the penod, Reliance
GeneMedix incurred research and development costs of € 4 547 million (2009 € 5 833 milion) manly on its EPO
programme The Directors regard continued investment in research and devetopment as a prerequisite for
creating and increasing the value of the intellectual property and technical know-how portfolio and to achieve and

sustain commercial success in the market place

Chantable donations
Duning the penod, the Company made no chantable donations (2009 € nil)

Political support
Reliance GeneMedix did not support, or make any donations to, pohtical parties in the penod (2009 € nil)

Financial instruments and associated nsks
The board reviews and agrees overall treasury policies, delegating appropriate authority to the Chief Executive
Officer Financial instruments are used to manage the financial nsks facing the Group - speculative transactions

are not permitted

The Group's financial Instruments compnse pnmarily cash, cash equivalents and borrowings [n addition to the
pnimary financial instruments mentioned above, the Group also has other financial mstruments, such as trade
creditors and accruals that anse directly from the Group’s operations The main purpose of these financial

instruments 1s to provide working capital for the Group's operations

The main nsks ansing from the Group's activities, and involving the use of financial instruments, are foreign
currency nsk, interest rate nsk and hquidity nsk Note 3 to the financial statements sets out the nsks in respect of

financial Instruments, along with numerical disclosures for each category of finangal instrument

Board changes
There has been no change tn the board of directors

Post balance sheet events
There have been no significant events since the balance sheet date

Supplier payment policy

The Group’s policy Is to settle terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms of each transaction,
ensure that suppliers are made aware of the terms of payment and abide by the terms of payment Trade
creditors of the Group at 31 March 2010 were equivalent to 62 days of purchases (2009 70 days)
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Substantial shareholdings
The Company had been notified, in accordance with chapter 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (*DTR™),
of the following interests in the ordinary share capital of the Company

Name of holder Number Percentage held
Dr Kim Tan 14,613,892 767%
Relance Holdings BV 151,602,489 79 58%

Save for the above, the Company has not been notified, of any matenal interest of 3 per cent or more or any non-
matenal interest exceeding 10 per cent of the 1ssued share capital of the Company

Directors’ interests
The directors who held office at 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009 had no interest in the shares of the Company

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)

For 2010, as an AIM listed company, the company 15 obliged to prepare its consolidated financial statements 1n
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS”) and with those parts of the Companies Act
2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS Previously the company prepared its audited annual financial
statements under United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP) These are the group’s
third IFRS financial statements Details regarding the IFRS comphance and applicability are set out in Note 2 1 to
the financial statements

Disclosure of information to the auditors
The directors in office at the date of this Report have each confirmed that
50 far as he or she Is aware, there 1s no relevant audit information of which the company's auditors are
unaware, and
» he or she has taken ali the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a Director to make himself or
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditors are aware of
that information
This confirmation is given In and should be interpreted in accerdance with the prowisions of Section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006

Auditors

The auditors, Ernst & Young, Chartered Accountants, have expressed thewr wilingness to continue n office as
auditors and in accordance with Section 485 of the Companies Act 2008, a resoluton proposing therr re-
reappointment will be submuitted at the Annual General Meeting

Nominated advisors

Deloitte LLP continue to act as Company’'s Nominated Advisors and dunng the year the Company has complied
with all listing regulations
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Special business

Your attention 1s drawn to the fact that, in addition to the usual business to be transacted at the Annual General
Meeting of the Company, which 1s to be held on 24 September 2010, some items of special business will be
proposed at that meeting Details of these items of special bustness will be set out in the notice of Annual General
Meeting, which will be enclosed with the Annual Report to be sent to shareholders
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report and the financial statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable 1aw and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union
The directors are responsible for preparing financial statements for each financial year, which give a true and fair
view, In accordance with IFRS, of the state of affars of the Company and Group and of the profit or loss of the
Company and Group for that pernod In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to

¢ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

« make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

+ state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any materal

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements, and
+ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropnate to presume
that the Company will continue in business

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements 1n preparing the financial statements
The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with the
Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties
The directors are responsible for the update, maintenance and integnty of the corporate and financial information
included on the Company’s website Legislation in the United Kingdom goverming the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other junsdictions

By order of the Board

VinayRanade
Chief Executive Officer & Company Secretary
30 August 2010
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Corporate governance

The Board has established an Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nominatons Committee with formally
delegated duties and responsibilittes

The Audit Commuttee consists of all the independent Non-Executive Directors and 1s chaired by Mr Dileep Choksi The
Audit Commitiee normally meets twice a year and has responsibibty for, among other things, planning and reviewing
the annual report and accounts and Iintenm statements and involving, where appropnate, the auditors The Committee
also approves auditors' fees, reviews auditor independence and focuses on compliance with legal requirements and
accounting standards It s also responsible for ensunng that an effective system of internal controlfs 1s maintained The

ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving the annual accounts and mtenm staterment remains with the Board

The Remuneration Committee 1s made up of all the independent Non-Executive Drrectors and 1s chaired by Dr R A
Mashelkar The Remuneration Committee, which meets as required, but at least once a year, has responsibilty for
making recommendations to the Board on the compensation of senior executives and determiming, within agreed terms
of reference, the specific remuneration packages for each of the Executive Directors

The Nominations Committee comprises the Charman and all of the independent Non-Executive Directors and 1s
chaired by Dr R A Mashelkar The Nominations Committee has responsibility for reviewing the size and composiion

of the Board and the appointment of replacement and or additional directors and making appropriate recommendations
to the Board

By order of the Board

4
Vinay Ranade

Chief Executive Officer
30 August 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF RELIANCE GENEMEDIX PLC

We have audited the financial statements of Reliance GeneMedix plc for the year ended 31
March 2010 which comprise the Group and Parent Company Statements of Financial Position,
the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group and Parent Company Statements of
Cash Flows, the Group and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity and the related
notes 1to 33 The financial reporting framework that has been applied in therr preparation 1s
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement set out on page 11, the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view OQur responsibility 1s to audit the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ettucal Standards for
Auditors

Scope of the audit

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group's and the parent company's
crrcumstances and have been consistently applied and adeqguately disclosed, the
reasonableness of significant accounting estmates made by the directors, and the overall
presentation of the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements

In cur opinion the financial statements

* give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and the parent company's affairs as at
31 March 2010 and of the group's and the parent company's loss for the year then ended,

. have been properly prepared m accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
and

+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2008 and,
as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

in our opinion

+ the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared In
accordance with the Companies Act 2006, and

» the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared Is consistent with the financial statements

14
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF RELIANCE GENEMEDIX PLC
{continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you If, In our opinion

« adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us, or

« the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors' Remuneration
Report to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

« certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made, or

+ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Annaville House

Newtown

Waterford

Ireland

Wilhiam Galloway (Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young, Statutory Audifor

Date 30 August 2010
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2010

Notes Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2008
€000 €000
Continuing operations
Revenue 410 608
Cost of sales (410) (608)
Gross profit - -
Research and development costs {170) (423)
Admimistrative expenses {2,055) {3,591)
Operating loss (2,225) (4,014)
Finance income 6 1 34
Finance costs 7 (283) (85)
Cther income 8 3 -
Loss before taxation (2,504) (4,065)
Taxation 13 960 1,297
Loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent 12 (1,544) (2,768)
Other comprehensive iIncome
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (1,544) (2,768)
Loss per ordinary share
Basic 15 (0 9¢c) {1 8c)
Difuted 15 (0 9c¢) (1 8c)
16




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position : Registered in England No. 03467317

As at 31 March 2010

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Property, ptant and equipment
Investment at cost

Deferred tax asset

Current assets

Inventones

Trade and other receivables
Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Net current habilities

Total assets less current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Net assets

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital

Share premium
Shares to be 1ssued
Other reserves
Retained losses

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Notes

16
17
18
13

19
20
27
27

21
22

21
22

23
23
23
25

3 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€000 €000
12,620 8,246
2,571 3,521
10 10
2,690 1,730
17,891 13,507
345 647
238 768
184 1786
134 169
901 1,760
{1,819) {2,512)
{1,080} {1.032)
{2,899) {3,544)
{1,998) (1,784)
15,893 11,723
(229) -
{5,485) -
{5,714) -
10,179 11,723
26,412 22,305
41,601 39,638
- 5,134
2,941 3,977
(60,775) (59,231)
10,179 11,723

The financial statements on pages 22 to 60 were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 August 2010 and were

s.gned\wxehalf by

Vin anade
Directo
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Company Statement of Financial Position : Registered in England No. 03467317

As at 31 March 2010

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investment at cost

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and cther receivables
Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current habilities

Non-current habilities
Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Net assets

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital

Share premium
Shares to be 1ssued
Other reserves
Retained losses

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Notes

16
17
18
13

19
20
27
27

21
22

21
22

23
23
23
25

31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€000 €000
12,620 8,246
2,571 3,521
10 10
2,690 1,730
17,891 13,507
345 847
238 768
184 176
134 169
901 1,760
(1,819) (2,327)
{1,080) (1,217)
(2,899) (3,544)
(1,998) (1,784)
15,393 11,723
(229) -
(5,485) -
(5,714) -
10,179 11,723
26,412 22,305
41,601 39,538
- 5,134
2,941 3,977
(60,775) (59,231)
10,179 11,723

The financial statements on pages 22 to 60 were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 August 2010 and were

signed s behalf by

{lln Ranéde
Directo
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2010

Share Share Shares to Other Retained
Notes capital premium beissued reserves losses Total
€000 €'000 €000 €000 €'000 €'000
Balance at 01 Apr 2008 22,305 39,538 - 3,977  (56,464) 9,356
Loss for the year - - - - (2,768) (2,768)
Recelpts for new shares to be 1ssued 23 - - 5134 - - 5134
Share-based payment 24 - - - - 1 1
Balance at 31 Mar 2609 22,305 39,538 5,134 3,977  (59,231) 11,723
Loss for the year - - - (1,544) (1,544)
Shares 1ssued for cash consideration 23 4,107 1,027 (5,134) - - -
Warrant reserve transfer on shares
iIssued 25 - 1,036 - {1,036) - -
Balance at 31 Mar 2010 26,412 41,601 - 2,941 {60,775} 10,179
Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2010
Share Share Shares to Other Retained
Notes capital premium be issued reserves losses Total
€'000 €'000 €000 €000 €'000 €'000

Balance at 01 Apr 2008 22,305 39,538 - 3,977 {56,464) 9,356
Loss for the year - - - - (2,768) (2,768)
Receipts for new shares to be issued 23 - - 5134 - - 5,134
Share-based payment 24 - - - - 1 1
Balance at 31 Mar 2009 22,305 39,538 5134 3,977 (69,231) 11,723
Loss for the year - - - - (1,544) (1,544)
Shares 1ssued for cash consideraton 23 4,107 1,027 (5,134) - - -
Warrant reserve transfer on shares
1ssued 25 - 1,036 - (1,036) - -
Balance at 31 Mar 2010 26,412 41,601 - 2,941 {60,775) 10,179
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2010

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash used in operating activities
Interest paid

Net cash used in operations

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for plant and equipment
Receipt for plant and equipment
Payments for intangible assets
Interest received

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary
(increase)/decrease In restncted cash

Net cash flows used in from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from exercising share warrants (shares to be 1ssued)
Proceeds for borrowings

Net decrease I1n cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year
Net currency translation effect

Cash and cash equivalents

Notes Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009 |
€'000 €000
26 (1,292) (2,506)
- M
{1,292) (2,507) |
{62) (31 9)I
24 -
{4,376) (5,409)
1 70|
191 -
(8) 27,
(4,230) (5,631)1
{
- 5134 |
5,485 - |
5,485 5,134
(37) (3,004)
27 169 3,309
2 (136)
27 134 169




Company Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2010

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash used in operating activities
Interest paid

Net cash used in operations

Cash flows from investing activities*
Payments for plant and equipment
Receipt for plant and equipment
Payments for intangible assets

interest received

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary
(Increase)/decrease Iin restncted cash

Net cash flows used in from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from exercising share warrants (shares to be 1ssued)

Proceeds for borrowings

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year

Net currency translation effect

Cash and cash equivalents

Notes

26

27

27

Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€'000 €000
{1,292) (2,506)
- (
(1,292) (2,507)
{62) (319)
24 -
(4,376) (5,409)
1 70
191 -
(8) 27
(4,230) (5,631)
- 5,134
5,485 -
5,485 5,134
(37) (3,004)
169 3,309
2 (136)
134 169
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2010

1 General information

Rellance GeneMedix plc (‘the Company’) and its subsidianes (collectively referred to as ‘the Group’ or ‘RGMX')
develop, manufacture and distnbute comparable biotechnology pharmaceuticals, ‘Biosimilars’, which are a generic
version of high value therapeutic proteins

The Company 1s a public imited company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom The address of its
registered office 1s 8th Floor, 105 Wigmore Street, London, W1U 1QY, UK

The Company is a subsidiary of Reliance Life Sciences Private Limited, India
The Company has its primary listing on the Alternative Investment Market {AIM) of the London Stock Exchange

These group consolidated financial statements were authonsed for 1ssue by the board of directors on 26 August
2010

At the date of authonsation of these financial statements, there were Standards and Interpretations in 1ssue but not
yet effective which have not been apphed Further details are included in Note 2 1

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
The pnncipal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consoldated financial statements are set out
below These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwmise stated

21. Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Fiancial Reporting Standards
("IFRS") adopted by the European Union, which compnses standards and interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and with those parts of Companies Act 2006 applicable to
companies reporting under IFRS

All IFRSs 1ssued by the Internatonal Accounting Standards Board (“IASB") that were effective at the time of
preparing the financial statements and adopted by the European Commission for use inside the EU were apphed
by Reliance GeneMedix plc These financial statements have been prepared under the histoncal cost convention

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumphions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and habilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses dunng the reporting penod Although these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of
the amount, event or actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estmates The areas involving higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4 Cntical accounting estimates and judgements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

Gomng concemn

The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and position, are
set out In the Chief Executive’s statement on page 3 and in the Directors’ Report on pages 7 and 8 In addition
Note 3 1 sets out the Company's financial nsk factors and how these are managed, while Note 3 2 sets out the
Company's capital nsk management process

The Company will require additional funds for operations and to enable it to complete product development upto
the point of commercialization The directors have assessed the feasibility of the potential approaches to 1ssuing
new ordinary shares, loans, renegotiating or refinancing the convertible loan note as well as available funding from
its parent company, Reliance Life Sciences Prnivate Limited

The Company is in receipt of a letter of support from its parent company Reliance Life Sciences Private Limited

Having assessed the response of Rellance Life Sciences Private Limited to their enquines and based on therr
knowledge of the financial situation of RLS group, the Company's directors have a reasonable expectation that the
company will be able to continue (n operational existence for the foreseeable future Thus the “Going Concern”
basis 15 adopted in prepanng the annual financial statements The financial statements do not reflect any
adjustments that would be required to be made if they were to be prepared on a basis other than a going concern
basis

New accounting standards
{(a) Standards, amendment and interpretations effective in this financial year

. IAS 1 (Amendment), ‘Presentation of financial statements’ has been revised and now requires the
separation of owner and non-owner changes in equity and the presentation of a statement of changes in
equity as a prnmary statement (the information contained in this statement had previously been provided by
the Group 1n the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements) The statement of changes in equity
includes only details of transactions with owners, with non-owner changes in equity presented in a
reconciiation of each component of equty The revised standard also introduces the statement of
comprehensive income, it presents all items of recognised income and expense, either in one single
statement, or two linked statements The Group has elected to present one statement, the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income (similar to the Statement of Recogmised Income and Expense
previously provided except that taxation relating to equity items I1s now shown within the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity) The group have applied IAS 1 (Amendment) from 1 Apni 2009

. IFRS 2 (Amendment), 'Share-based payment' relatng to vesting conditions and cancellations The
amendment applied from 1 Aprl 2009 and specifies that all cancellations of share-based payment
arrangements, including those by an employee or other counterparty, should receive the same accounting
treatment of requinng immedate recognition in the incame statement of the charge that would otherwise
have been recognised over the remainder of the service penod This implementation has had no impact on
the results or net assets of the group or Company

) IFRS 8, 'Operating segments’ replaces IAS 14 The new standard requires a ‘management approach’,
under which segment information 1s presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting
purposes The group concluded that the operating segments determined in accordance with IFRS 8 are the
same as the business segments previously identified under IAS 14
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — Continued

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Standards, amendment and interpretations effective in this financial year but not relevant

IAS 23 {Amendment), ‘Borrowing costs' requires an entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly attnbutable
to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualfying asset (one that takes a substantial penod of
time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the cost of that asset The option of immediately expensing
those borrowing costs are removed The group applied 1AS 23 (Amended) from 1 Apnl 2009 but it ts
currently not applicable to the group as there are no borrowing costs relating to qualfying assets

1AS 27 (Amendment), ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’ deals with the measurement of the
cost of investments in subsidianes, jointly controlled entties and associates 1AS 32 (Amendment) Financial
Instruments Presentation and IAS 1 (Amendment) Presentation of Financial Statements, ‘Puttable financial
instruments and obligations arising on hquidation’

IFRIC 16 - 'Hedges to a Net Investment in a Foreign QOperation’,
IAS 39 {Amendment), 'Eligible hedge items’,

IFRIC 18 — 'Transfers of Assets from Customers’

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the group

The following standards, amendments and nterpretations to existing standards have been published and
are mandatory for the group’s accounting penods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 or later penods, but
the group has not early adopted them

IFRS 3 {Amendment), ‘Business combinations’ The amendment will apply to business combinations ansing
from 1 Janvary 2010 Amongst other changes, the new Standard will require recogrition of subsequent
changes in the fair value of contingent consideration in the income statement rather than against goodwill,
and transaction costs to be recognised immediately in the iIncome statement Fair value gains or losses on
existing investments 1IN an acquired company will be recognised in the income statement at the date of
acquisition The group will apply IFRS 3 (Amended) from 1 Apnl 2010

IFRS 3 (Amended) and IAS 27 (Amended) will both be applied prospectively to transactions occurring after
the implementation date It 1s therefore not possible to assess In advance their impact on the financial
statements of the Group

Interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and not relevant for the group’s operations
The following interpretations to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the group’s
accounting pencds beginming on or after 1 Apnl 2010 or later penods but are not relevant for the group’s
operations

IFRIC 15, ‘Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate’,

IFRIC 17 — ‘Dustrnibution of Non-cash Assets to Owners',

Company income statement
In accordance with the provisions of section 408 of the Companies Act 2008, no separate income statement
has been presented for the Company The results for the Company are also presented under IFRS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — Continued

2.2 Consoldation

The underlying financial statements compnse a consolidation of the accounts of the Company and all its
subsidianes The results of the branch activities are included in the results of the company There are no trading
entities consolidated and hence there 1s no difference between consolidated and company accounts The accounts
are made up to 31 March

{a}  Subsidianes

Subsidianes are all entiies over which the Group has control Control 1s achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its actvities
Subsidianes are fully consolidated from the date on which control Is transferred to the Group They are de-
consolidated from the date on which control ceases The results of subsidianes acquired or disposed dunng the
year are included n the consolidated income statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate

The Group uses the purchase method to account for the acquisition of subsidianes The cost of an acquisition s
measured as the farr value of the assets given, equity instruments 1ssued and habilities incurred or assumed at the
date of exchange, plus costs directly attnbutable to the business combination |dentifiable assets acquired and
labilities and contingent habilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 Business combinations are
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date If the conditions of Section 612 of the Compames Act 2006
are met, merger relief 1s taken on the issue of shares and a merger reserve 1S recognised The excess of the cost
of acquisttion over the fair value of the Group's share of the identfiable net assets acquired 1s recorded as goodwill
If the cost of acquisition 1s less than the fair value of the Group's share of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference I1s recogrised directly in the iIncome statement

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are
elminated Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred Subsidianies' accounting policies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group

(b) Transactions and minonty interests

The group applies a policy of treating transactions with minonty Interests as transactions with parties external to
the group Disposals to minonty interests result 1n gains and losses for the group that are recorded in the income
statement Purchases from minonty interests result In goodwill, being the difference between any consideration
pawd and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary

2.3 Revenue Recognition

Revenues pnncipally comprnise income from sales of product manufactured Revenues are recogmsed upon
transfer to the customer of significant nsks and rewards, usually upon despatch of goods shipped where the sales
price 1s agreed and collectability is reasonably assured

24 Foreign currency translation
{a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
pnmary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’) The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Euro (‘€'), which 1s the company’s presentation currency and are rounded to €'000s
All monetary assets and habities denominated in Pound Sterling as on 31 March 2010 have been converted to
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — Continued

Euro at an exchange rate of 1 12411 and other Pound Sterling assets and liabihes have been converted to Euro
at histonical rates Further details are shown in Note 4 3

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translatron at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabiities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognmsed in the statement of comprehensive income

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of histoncal cost in a foreign currency are transiated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the imitial transactions Non-monetary items measured at fairr value in a

foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 15 determined

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows

. assets and habiities for each Statement of Financial Position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that Statement of Financial Position,

. income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average 1s not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions), and

. all resulting exchange differences are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

On consolidation, exchange differences ansing from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations are
taken to recognised in Other Comprehensive Income Where branch/subsidianies are funded centrally, using long-
term intercompany loans and settlement of these foans is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable
future, they are treated as a deduction in arnving at the net investment and related exchange translation
differences are taken to reserves When a foreign operation is disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were
recorded In equity are recognised in the iIncome statement as part of the gain or loss on sale

2 5. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment 1s stated at the cost of purchase or construction less provision for depreciation and
imparrment The cost of property, plant and equipment includes acquisitton costs and labour and overhead costs
ansing directly from the construction or acquisition of an item of property, plant and equipment

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recogrised as a separate asset, as appropnate,
only when it 1s probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured rehably All other repairs and maintenance expenditures are charged to the income
statement during the financial year in which they are ncurred

Property, plant and equipment depreciation 1s provided on the difference between the cost of an item and its
estimated residual value, in equal annual instalments over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements - Continued

Plant and machinery 10%~20%
Office equipment 10%-20%
Fixtures and fitings 10%-20%
Leasehold improvements/and and bulldings 10%-20%

Assets in the course of construction are depreciated when they have been brought into cperational use

Residual values of assets and therr useful hves are reviewed, and adjusted if appropnate, at each Statement of
Financial Position date An impairment loss 1s recognised for the amount by which an asset's carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount The recoverable amount 1s the higher of an asset’s farr value less costs to sale
and value in use

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by companng the disposal proceeds with the carrying amount and
are included in the iIncome statement

2.6. Intangible assets

a) Goodwilf

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisitton over the fair value of the group’'s share of the net
identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisiton Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidianes 1s
included In ‘Intangible assets’ Separately recognised goodwilt 1s tested annually for imparment and carrnied at cost
less accumulated imparrment losses Imparrment losses on goodwill are not reversed Gains and {fosses on the
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold

b) Licences and technical knowhow

Acquired techrical knowhow and licences are shown at histerical cost Technical knowhow and licences have a
finite useful ife and are carmmed at cost less accumulated amortisation Amortisation 1s calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the cost of technical knowhow licences over therr estimated useful lives (15 years)

c) Research and development
Research expenditure 1s charged to the income statement in the penod in which it is incurred Development
expenditure 1s capitalised when the cntena for recognising 1t as an asset are met —

* The technical feasibility of completing the asset so that it will be available for use or sale

+ The intention to complete the asset and use or sell 1t

+ The ability to use the asset

¢ The asset will generate probable future economic benefits and demonstrate the existence of a market or
the usefulness of the asset If it 1s to be used internally

+ The avallability of adequate technical, financial and other rescurces to complete the development and to
use or sell it

¢ The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset

Research and development expenditure that does not create, produce or prepare an asset for future use Is
expensed as incurred Further details are included in Note 4 1

Where development costs are capitalised they are amortised over their useful economic lives (10 years) from

product launch Useful economic life has been based on the estimated Iife cycle for products under development
Prior to product launch the asset i1s tested annually for impairment

27




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — Continued

2.7. Impairment of assets

Assets that are subject to amorlisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable An impairment loss 1s recognised for the
amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount The recoverable amount 1s the
higher of an asset’s farr value less costs to sell and valug in use Any impawrment loss is charged to the income
statement 1in the year concerned For the purposes of assessing imparment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identfiable cash inflows (cash generating units)

The expected cash flows generated by the assets are discounted using asset specific discount rates which reflect
the nisks associated with the groups of assets

28 Loans and receivables

L.oans and receivables are non-dernivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market They are included in current assets, except for matunttes greater than 12 menths after the
Statement of Financial Posttion date These are classified as non-current assets The group's loans and
receivables compnse ‘trade and other recevables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the Statement of Financral
Position (Note 2 10)

Other receivables are recognised inthially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment A provision for impairment of other receivables 1s
established when there 1s objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to
the onginal terms of the recevables Significant financial difficulbies of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default or delinguency in payments (more than 30 days overdue)
are considered indicators that the other receivable 15 mpaired The amount of the provision ts the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estmated future cash flows, discounted at the
ongnal effective interest rate The carrying amount of the asset 1s reduced through the use of an allowance
account, and the amount of the loss 1s recognised In the income statement within ‘administrative expenses’ When
another receivable 1s uncollectible, it 1s written off against the allowance account for other recervables Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously wrtten off are credited against ‘administrative expenses’ in the income
statement

2.9 Inventories

inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost is determined using the first in, first out
(FIFO) method The cost of finished goods comprises raw matenals, direct labour, other direct costs and an
appropnate proportion of related production overheads, based on the normal level of production capacty Net
realisable value 1s the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable vanable selling
expenses Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropnate

210 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short term hughly hquid
investments with onginal matunties of three months or less, that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant nsk of changes n value Cash and cash equivalents are carmed in the
Statement of Financial Position at amortised cost For the purposes of the cash flow statement, net cash and cash
equivalents compnse cash at bank and 1n hand and short-term deposits
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Restncted cash 1s camed in the Statement of Financial Posiion at amortised cost Restricted cash compnses
reserve funds required for financial guarantee contracts and collateral against certain operating leases

2.11. Trade payables
Trade payables are recogrised intially at farr value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method

212. Borrowings

{a) Loans

Obligations for loans are recogrised when the Group becomes party to the related contracts and are measured
initizlly at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs After initial recogrition, interest beanng loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method Gains and losses
ansing on the repurchase, settlernent or other cancellation of labilities are recogrised respectively 1n finance
revenue and finance cost

(b}  Convertible loan note
Converttble loan note 1s separated into hability and equity components based on the terms of 1ssue

On 1ssuance of the convertible loan note, the fair value of the hability portion is determined by applying a market
interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible loan note to the forecast cash flows under the convertible loan note
agreement This amount 1s recorded as a financial habiity on an amortised cost basis untl extinguished on
conversion or redemption of the loan notes

The remainder of the proceeds of the loan note 1s allocated to the conversion option which 1s recogmised and
included in shareholders’ equity The value of the conversion option 1s not changed In subsequent penods

Borrowings are classified as current babilities unless the group has an unconditional nght to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the Statement of Financial Position date

(¢} De-recognition of financial liabilties
A financial liability 1s generally derecogrused when the contract that gives nse to it 1s settled, sold, cancelled or
expires

Where an existing financial hability 1s replaced by another from the same lender on substanttally different terms, or
the terms of an existing hability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification 1s treated as a de-
recognition of the onginal hability and the recogmtion of a new liability, such that the difference in the respective
carrying amounts together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in profit or loss

2.13 Leases

Lease agreements which transfer to the Group substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of an asset are
classified as finance leases Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair
value of the leased property, plant and equipment and the present value of minimum lease payments Each lease
payment 15 allocated between the liabiity and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
finance balance outstanding The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included n other
long-term payables These payments are split between capital and interest elements using the annuity method
The interest element of the lease rental i1s included In the iIncome statement Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated on a basis consistent with similar owned assets or the lease term If shorter
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All other leases are ciassified as operating leases Payments made under operating leases, net of lease incentives
or premiums recelved, are charged to the income statement on a straight-ine basis over the penod of the lease

2 14. Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution plan for its employees The Group's contnbutions to this plan are
charged to the income statement in the penod to which they relate The Group contnbutes a sum equal to a
proportion of basic salary (currently a maximum of 7%) to a personal defined contnbution pension scheme on
behalf of each participating employee each month The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contnbutions have been paid

{b) Share-based compensation

Incentives in the form of shares are provided to employees under share option and long-term incentive plans In
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, charges for these incentives are expensed through the income
statement on a straight-ine basis over ther vesting penod, based on the Group's estimate of shares that will
eventually vest The total amount to be expensed 15 determined by reference to the fair value of the options or
awards at the date they were granted excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions {for example,
profitabiity and sales growth targets) Non-market vesting conditions are included 1n estimates about the number
of options that are expected to become exercisable or are released

At each Statement of Financial Position date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to become exercisable It recognises the impact of the rewision of onginal estimates, If any, 1n the income
statement, and a corresponding adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period

In the event of an individual's employment being terminated by the company, any unvested options at the date of
termination are treated as being forfeited

{c) Terrmination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment 1s terminated before the nermal relirement date, or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits The Group recogrises termination
benefits when it 1S demonstrably committed to either (1) terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed format plan without possibility of withdrawal, or (n) providing termination benefits as a result
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy Benefits failing due more than 12 months after the Statement
of Financial Position date are discounted to present value

{d} Holiday pay
The Group’'s holiday penod runs for each financial year and the Group allows employees to carry over holidays

into the next year as long as they are used by 30 September of that year An accrual 1s made for any unused
holidays at the year end

(e) Profit-shanng and bonus plan

The group recogruses a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-shanng, based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the company's shareholders after certain adjustments The group recognises
a provision where contractually obliged or where there 1$ a past practice that has created a constructive obligation
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215 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it 1s probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the
amount has been reliably estimated

Where there are a number of similar obhgations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settliement 1s
determined by considenng the class of ocbligations as a whole A provision i1s recogmised even if the ikelihood of an
outflow with respect to any cne item inctuded in the same class of cbligations may be small

Prowvisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required t¢ settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the nsks specific to
the obligation The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense

2 16. Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity

Incremental costs directly attnbutable to the 1ssue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds

Where any Group company purchases the Company's equity share capial (treasury shares) the consideration
paid, including any directly attnibutable incremental costs (net of ncome taxes) 1s deducted from equity atiributable
to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of Where such shares are
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attnbutable incremental transaction
costs and the related income tax effects, 1s included in equity attnibutable to the Company's equity holders

217 Warrants
The Company does not reclassify a warrant instrument following a change of circumstances which, had it occurred
before inihial recognition of the warrant instrument, would have changed its classification

2.18. Taxation
(a)  Current tax

Current tax i1s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year using the tax rates and laws that have
been enacted or substantially enacted at the Statement of Financial Position date in the countnes where the
group's branch and subsidianes operate and generate taxable income, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax i1s provided in full, using the hability method, on temporary differences ansing between the lax bases
of assets and liabihties and thewr carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements However, the deferred
tax 15 not accounted for if it anses from inibal recognition of an asset or habity in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
Deferred tax 1s determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantally enacted by the
Statement of Financial Positton date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset 1s realised or
the deferred tax hablity 1s settled

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profit will be available
agamnst which the temporary differences can be utiised
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Deferred tax 1s provided on temporary differences ansing on nvestments in subsidiaries and associates, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference 1s controlled by the group and it 1s probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future

(c) Research and development tax credits/rehef

The Group makes claims each year for Research and Development Tax rehief In the past the Group elected to
take the cash equivalent amount under the Small/Medium Enterpnse (*SME") scheme Since acquisition by
Rehance Life Sciences 1n 2007, it 1s not eligible for claiming cash equivalent under the SME scheme and hence
has elected for tax loss enhancement for the current year under the large company scheme

3 Financial nsk management

31 Financ:al nsk factors

The Group holds financial instruments to finance its operations and to manage the currency nsk that anses from
these operations It i1s the Group's policy that no speculative trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken
The Group finances its operations through a combination of equity, bndge loans and convertible loan notes as
disclosed in Note 22 Borrowings The main rnisks ansing from the Group's financial instruments are hquidity nsk,
market nsk, and credit sk

a) Market nsk

Foretgn currency exchange risk

The Group s exposed to movements in foreign exchange rates against the Euro for trading transactions and the
translation of net assets, labilittes and expenses of UK entity and subsidiartes The main trading currencies of the
Group are Pound Sterling and the Euro (2009 Pound Sterling and the Euro)

The group has certain minor iInvestments in foretgn operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk Currency exposure ansing from the net assets of the group’s foreign operations 1s managed
primanly through borrowings denominated (n the relevant foreign currencies

Almost all of the Group’s operations are based In Ireland and UK giving nise to exposures to changes in foreign
exchange rates between the Euro and the Pound Sterling To minimise the impact of any fluctuations, the Group’s

policy has historically been to maintain natural hedges by relating the structure of borrowings to the trading cash
flows that generate them

The aggregate carrying amounts of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and habiities held by the
Group, which are not denominated in its functional currency, as at the reporting date are as follows

2010 20089
Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets
€000 €'( €'000 €000
Pound Sterling (1.848 p {1,666) 380
Chinese Renminbt - - 202
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The Group I1s mainly exposed to the Pound Sterling In addition, the Group 1s exposed to cross currency rates, as
operating costs of the UK entity and subsidianies are often in currencies other than their functional currency

The following table details the Group's loss before tax sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in Euro as at the
Statement of Financial Posihion date against the relevant foreign currencies, with all other variables held constant
it includes foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts therr translation at the yearend for a 10%
change n foreign currency rates A positive number indicates a strengtheming of the relevant currency For a
weakening there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss, and the balances below would be reversed

€/E

€000
2010 (164)
2009 (129)

At 31 March 2010, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the Euro with all other vanables
held constant, loss for the year would have been €170,072 (2009 €121,683) higherflower, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on transtation of Pound Sterling denominated ‘borrowings’ Loss Is more sensitive
to movement in currency/Euro exchange rates in 2010 than 2009 because of the depreciation in value of Pound
Sterling and US dollar

Prce nsk

The Group 1s exposed to commodity price nisk including labour and material costs The group addresses the
matenials pnice nsk through competitive and alternate sourcing strategies Though the group has Iittle control over
the labour price nsk, the extent of vanation 15 monitored continuously to assess its impact on budget and product /
project costing

Interest rate nsk
The Group borrows at fixed and floating rates of interest as deemed appropnate for its circumstances All
borrowings are at fixed rates, but deposits are at floating rates the Group 1s therefore exposed to interest rate nsk

The Group's exposure to interest rates on financial assets and liabihies 1s detailed in Note 22 Borrowings The
sensitivity analysis has been prepared to show the effect of a 1% increase in market interest rates on interest
income and expense For floating rate financial assets the analysis 1s prepared assuming the amount of asset was
outstanding as at 31 March 2010 A 1% decrease would have an equal and opposite effect on the change in loss

Effect on loss before tax
31 March 2010 31 March 2009

€000 €000
Pound Sterling 2 2
Euro 1 1

Credit nsk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Group to concentrations of credit nsk consist pnmarnly of cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash and other receivable Cash and cash equivalents present minimal nsk
Excess cash is invested In short-term money market instruments, including bank term deposits, money market and
hquidity funds These investments typically bear minimal nsk
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The Group’s revenue from product sales are likely to be mainly denved from agreements with major
pharmaceutical companies and relationships with pharmaceutical wholesale distributors and retail pharmacy
chains However, for the year to 31 March 2010, there was no significant revenue generated from product sales or
licensing, so no ‘trade receivable’ credit risk 1ssue arose The Group will take positive steps to manage any credit
nsk associated with future trade account receivable and operates clearly defined credit evaluation procedures

With respect to credit nsk arising from other financial assets in the Group, the maximum exposure 15 equal to the
carrying value of the instrument

b) Lquidity risk

The Group's policy is to mantain continuity of funding through a mixture of long-term debt and bank loans, raised
to cover specific projects, and through the 1ssue of shares to collaborative partners, where necessary, to finance
development contracts Short-term flexibility 1s provided through the use of bridge loans and bank overdrafts

As set out in Note 22 Borrowings, the Group has in 1ssue €1 5 million convertible loan note which should have
been redeemed at par on 30 August 2008 The Dwectors have carmed out a detalled appraisal of a number of
potential approaches to renegotiate or refinance the loan note The detals about how the company plans to
continue to operate in future can be found in Note 2 1 under “Going concern”

The maturity of the debt 1s disclosed in Note 22 Borrowings

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s hquidity reserve (comprises equity raisings, debenture loan
notes and loans) (Financial review 1n directors report) and cash and cash equivalents (Note 27) on the basis of
expected cash flow

Forecasted hquidity reserve per 31 March 2010 based on business plan projections is as follows.

2011 2012-2015

€'000 €'000
Opening balance for the year 134 50
Operating proceeds 939 131,555
Operating cash outflows (3,577) (106,594)
Capital expenditure (3,596) -
Financing proceeds 6,150 3,530
Net cash generated from operating activities 50 28,541

3.2 Capital nsk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 22, cash and
cash equivalents in Note 27 and capital, reserves and retained losses are disclosed in the ‘Consolidated and
Company Statement of Changes in Equity’ and Note 25 The Group manages its capital to ensure that in the
future, the Group will be able to continue as going concem and to ensure the Group has sufficient capital avallable
to meet future funding requirements

The Group 15 not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements
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3.3 Fair value estimation

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of other receiwvables and trade payables are assumed to
approximate to their fair values The fair value of the liabikties for disclosure purposes ts estimated by discounting
the future cash flows at the current market interest rates that are avalable to the Group for similar financial
instruments

At 31 March 2010, the group had 4% convertible loan stock of €1 3 milion, which had a carrying value of €13
million (2009 €1 2 million) and 7% unsecured loan of €5 7 milion, which had a carrying value of €57 milon As
the 4% convertible loan stock was unique to the Group, the Directors decide to estimate its farr value using a
discounted cash flow analysis The farr value of unsecured !oan is deemed to be the bock value Further details
are shown in Note 4 5 and 22

4 Cntical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilties,
income and expenses The Notes to the financial statements set out areas involving a higher degree of judgment
or complexity, or areas where assumptions are significant to the financial statements such as intangible assets
(Note 16) The estimates and assoclated assumptions are based on historical experience and vanous other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
judgements about carrying values of assets and Iiabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources Actual
results may differ from these estimates

The estmates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Rewvisions to accounting estimates
are recogrised 1n the year in which the estimate 1s revised

41. Intangible assets — development costs

Expenditure on pure and apphed research 1s charged to the income statement in the year In which it 1s incurred
internally generated expenditure ansing from development (or from the development phase of an internal project)
may be capitalised If it satisfies all of the cntena as specified 1n IAS 38 “Intangible assets” summansed in Note
28

Further to meeting these criteria, only such costs that relate solely to the development phase of a self-irtiated
project are capitalised Any costs that are classified as part of the research phase of a self-imitiated project are
expensed as incurred If the research phase cannot be clearly distinguished from the development phase, the
respective project related costs are treated as if they were incurred in the research phase only

Expenditure on product development is capitatised as an intangible asset and amortised over the expected useful
Iife of the product concerned Capitalisation commences from the point at which technical feasibiiity, commercial
viability and resource availability of the product can be demonstrated and the group 1s satisfied that it 1s probable
that future economic benefit will result from the product once completed Capitalisation ceases when the product 1s
ready for launch

The Directors believe that the Group met the recogrution cnteria stated 1n IAS 38 “Intangible assets™ from 1

September 2007, therefore, €4 4 million (2009 €5 4 million) of development costs incurred during the year have
been capitaised as an intangible asset
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Management made a decision to capitalise the expenditure on EPO development from the date of receipt of
approval for conducting EPQ confirmatory climeal tnals n Poland So from September 2007 all EPO related
development cosis are capitalised A total of €4 4 mithon of EPO development costs incurred dunng the year have
been capitalised as an intangible asset

Al! other development costs Incurred were expensed as incurred dunng the year

Estimated impairment of intangible assets — Development costs

The Group tests annually whether intangible assets have suffered any imparrment, in accordance with the
accounting policy stated 1n Note 2 8 The recoverable amounts of cash-generating umits have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations which are derved from business plan projections of the Group Business plan
projections have been worked out using varous assumptions which include projected market share of the
company's products These calculations require the use of estimates

The Group uses a discounted cash flow model to value intangible assets, which requires assumptions about the
timing and amount of future cash inflows and outflow nsk, the cost of capital and termuinal value The discounted
rate of 10% 1s considered for the purpose Each of these assumptions 1s significant to the vaiue of the intangible
assets The Group reviews intangible assets for impairment, if there 1s an indication of impairment or annualily |
required, in accordance with IAS 36 ‘Imparment of Assets’ A prolonged general economic downturn, new
products, sustained government pressure on pnces and specifically, competitive pricing, could create an
imbalance of industry supply and demand, or otherwise dimirish volumes or profits Such events, combined with
changes in interests, and changes to or the potential delay of the development project to which the intangible asset
relates, could adversely affect the Group's valuation of the estimated future net cash flows generated by its
intangible assets As a result, future operating results could be materially and adversely affected by impairment
charges related to the recoverability of iIntangible assets

in the year to 31 March 2010, there 1s no change to the estimated future net cash flows from Epostim®

Even If the estimated Group's pre-tax discount rate apphed to the discounted cash flows for Epostm® product had
been 15% higher than management's estmates (for example, 25% instead of 10%), with all other vanables held
constant, the Group would not have to recognise an impairment against intangible assets

42 Amortisation hves

Other intangible assets are recorded at therr fair value at acquisition date and are amortised on a straight-hne
basis over thewr estimated useful economic lives from the time they are available for use Any change in the
estimated useful economic ives could affect the future results of the Group

4.3 Functional currency

The Directors consider the suggested factors under IAS 21 that are relevant in determining the functiona! currency
for each individual entity within the Group

The Company's functional currency 1s Euro The directors will continue to morutor the changes in underlying
economic environments with regard to functional currency in the future
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44, Share-based payments

RGMX has historically granted options to the Group's Directors and employees over ordinary shares under two
share option plans

The Group accounts for share-based compensation in accordance with IFRS 2, 'Share-based Payment’

The Group measures share-based compensation cost for awards classified as equity at the grant date, based on
the estimated far value of the award, and recognizes the cost as an expense on a straight-ine basis (net of
estimated forfeitures) over the employee requisite service year The Group measures share-based compensation
cost for awards classified as habilities at farr value, which 1s re-measured at the end of each reporting year

The Group estimates the fair value of share-based awards without market-based performance conditions using a
Black-Scholes valuation model and awards with market-based performance conditions are valued using a binomal
valuation model

Several cntical assumptions are made In the determination of the Group’s share-based compensation cost The
Group believes that the most cntical assumptions are the expected Iife of the award and the weighted average
volatiity of the Rehance GeneMedix's shares Other assumptions made by the Group in respect of the
determination of share-based compensation cost include the nsk free rate, the expected dividend yield and the
expected forfeiture rate

The Group's estimate of the expected Iife of the award i1s based on the ‘simplified’ method and the weighted
average volatiity 1s based upon historical share price data of the Company’s shares for the requisite expected life
of the awards Given the related nature of each of the assumptions underlying the valuaton of share-based
payment awards, it would not be meaningful to quantfy the sensitvity to change for each individual assumption

The Group believes that the valuation technique and the approach utilized to develop the underlying assumptions
are appropriate In estmating the fair values of Reliance GeneMedix's share-based payment awards Estimates of
farr value are not intended to predict actual future events or the value ulhmately realized by employees who
recelve equity awards, and subsequent events are not indicative of the reasonableness of the oniginal estimates of
farr value made by the Group under IFRS 2

4.5. Fair value of financial instrument

The Directors use judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation techmigue for financial instruments not quoted in
an equity market Financial instruments have been valued using a discounted cash flow analysis This valuation
requires the Group to make estmates of expected future cash flows and discount rates, which are subject to
uncertainty The amounts are disclosed in Note 22

46 Contingency and commitments
In the normal course of business, contingent habilities may anse from Iitigation and other claims against the Group

Where the potential llabilities are not probable or are very difficult to guantify reliably, the Group treat them as
contingent habihbes Such habilities are disclosed in the notes but are not provided for in the financial statements
Although there can be no assurance regarding the final outcome of the legal proceedings, the Directors do not
expect them to have a matenally adverse impact on the Group's financial position or profitabiity
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Further details are included in Note 28

47 Deferred income tax

Deferred tax assets and habilsties require management judgement in determining the amounts to be recognised In
particular, significant judgement 15 used when In assessing the extent to which deferred tax assets should be
recognised with consideration given to the timing and level of future taxable income together with any future tax

planning strategies

5 Segmental information

The Directors are of the opinion that under 1AS 8 — ‘Operating Segments' the Group has only one business
segment, being drug development (EPO) and there was turnover of € 0 410 million in the year to 31 March 2010 (

€ 0608 2009)

Revenue from external customers

Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€’000 €000
india 410 608
410 608
Revenue information 1s based on the location of the customer
Information about major customers
Revenue earned from the Group’s only customer Rehance Life Sciences P Ltd |, India related party
Non-current assets by location
Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€'000 €000
UK 322 439
Ireland 14,879 11,338
15,201 11,777
Non-current assets consist of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investments
6 Finance income
Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€000 €000
interest revenue
Bank deposits 1 34
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7 Finance costs

Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
Interest payable €000 €000
Bank interest payable - 4))]
Convertible debenture interest payable (54) (84)
Loan interest payable to a related party {229) -
{283) {85)
8 Otherincome
Year Year ‘
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009 ‘
€000 €000
Other income
Profit on sale of assets 3 -
9 Expense by nature
Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€000 €000
Changes in inventories (Note 19) (302) 127
Raw matenals and consumables used in research and development - 12
Employee benefit expense (Note 12) 593 1,104
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment charges (Note 16 and 17) 993 1,002
Research and non-capitalised development costs 170 411
Operating lease payments (Note 12) 185 277
Foreign exchange loss 206 g0
Qther expenses 380 991
Total Operating expenses 2,225 4,014
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10 Employee, directors and key management

Employees

The average number of persons {(including Executive Directors) employed by the Group dunng the year was

By activittes

Research and development
Administration

Aggregate remuneration of Directors

Emoluments
Post-employment benefits* (Note 11)
Termination payments

Remuneration of each Directors
Dr R A Mashelkar

Mr Rajendra Lodha

Mr Atul Dayal

Mr Dileep Choksi

Mr K V Subramaniam

Mr Vinay Ranade

Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
Number Number
19 40
10 15
29 55
€'000 €'000
103 118
103 118
" 11

8

8

1
75 90

“There are no post-employment benefits accruing to any executive director under a defined contnbution scheme

No fees were payable to third parties in respect of Directors’ services for either year

The abaove amaunts for remuneration include the following n respect to the hughest paid director

Emoluments
Post-employment benefits (Note 11)
Termination payments

Aqgregate remuneration of key management

Emoluments
Post-employment benefits (Note 11)
Share-based payments

Year Year

ended ended

31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€000 €'000

75 a0

75 90

Year Year

ended ended

31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€'000 €000

343 396

- 18

343 414

The key management figures given above include Executive and Non-Executive Directors
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11 Post-employment benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Group personal pension scheme for employees and Executive
Directors The total pension cost for the Group was €2,439 (2009 €126,579) The outstanding pension
contnbutions as at 31 March 2010 were NIL (2009 €23,393) As part of the group restructure, the group
negohiated and agreed with employees and Executive Directors not to make any employer's pension contrnibution
for the year except for those employees being made redundant The pension contribution will resume from Apnl

2010

12 Loss for the year
Loss for the year has been arnived at after charging

Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€'000 €000

Staff costs
- Wages and salaries 1,312 2,454
- Equity-settied share-based payments i 1
- Social secunty costs 138 252
- Post employment benefit — defined contribution plans 2 127
- Termunation benefits (16) 134
- Other benefits 21 33
1,457 3,001
Less Development payroll costs capitalised as intangible assets {864) (1,897)
593 1,104

As part of the group restructure, the group made 18 employees redundant, no contnbution was paid to all the

pension plans from April 2009 to March 2010

Services provided by the Group’s auditors and network firms

It 1s the Group's policy to employ the auditors on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where their
expertise and expenence with the Group are important, principally tax advice and as reporting accountants on
significant transactions, or where they are awarded assignments on a competitive basis During the year the Group

obtained the following services from the Group’s auditors at costs detailed below

Year Year

ended ended

31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009

Services provided by Group's auditors €000 €'000
Auditors’ remuneration for audit services

- Auditors’ fees 40 66

- All other services pursuant to legislation 3 S

40 71

Total Auditors’ remuneration
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12 Loss for the year {continued)

Year Year|
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009’
€'000 €000
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {Note 17)
- Owned assets 991 999
Impairment of intangible assets (Note 16)
- Licence fee - y
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16)
- Know-how 2
Total depreciation and amortisation expense 993 1,002
€'000 €'00d
Operating lease rental
- Property, plant and equipment 183 268
- Others 2 8
185 277
]
13 Income tax ‘
Year Yeac]
ended ende
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 200
€000 €00
Current tax -
Deferred tax asset recognised 960 1,29

960 1,29

There are tax losses avallable to be carrted forward at 31 March 2010 subject to the agreement of the HM ‘
Revenue & Customs The losses are attributable to the parent company and the Ireland branch
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13. Income tax (continued)

The tax on the Group's losses before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would anse using the standard

rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28%

Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€'000 €'000
Loss for the financial year {2,504) {4,065)
Loss on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax of
28% (2009 28%) (701) (1,138)
Effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1 1
Research & development tax relief {631) (1,608)
Loss carnied forward 1,680 2,856
Deferred tax asset ansing on losses carned forward 960 1,297
Difference between capital allowances and depreciation (349) (111)
Tax on loss on ordinary activities 960 1,297
Deferred tax

The Group has tax losses carrnied forward at the Statement of Financial Position date, a portion of which have been
recognised as a deferred tax asset On the basis of projections 1t 15 considered probable that suffictent taxable
profits wtll be available to enable the deferred tax asset to be recovered The projections are on the same basis as

those used for the impairment review of the intangible fixed assets (see 4 1 above)

Year Year

ended ended

31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009

€'000 €000

Opening Balance at 1 April 1,730 433
Recogmised dunng the year 260 1,297
Closing Balance at 31 March 2,690 1,730

A further potential deferred tax asset in the amount of €1,613,557 1s not recognised as on the basis of projections it
Is not considered probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available in the foreseeable future to enable 1t to be

recovered

14 Loss of holding company

Of the loss for the financial year, a deficit of €1,544,354 (2009 a loss of €2,768,044) 1s dealt with in the accounts
of Reliance GeneMedix plc As per section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the directors have presented a profit
and loss account on a consclidated basis only and not for the Company alone The consolidated loss and the

Company loss did not differ from one another in either year
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15. Loss per ordinary share
Basic loss per share 1s calculated by dividing the loss attnbutable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period

For diluted loss per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue 15 adjusted to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares The group had three classes of dilutive potential ordinary
shares during the period, being those share options granted to empioyees and directors where exercise price 1s
less than the average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares duning the period, the contingently issuable
shares attached to the warrants (see Note 23 for details) and the contingently 1ssuable shares attached to the
convertible debentures (see Note 22 for details) Diluted loss per share 1s equal to basic loss per share as potential
ordinary shares are not treated as ditlutive since their conversion would not increase loss per share from continuing
operations In accordance with 1AS 33

Year Year r
ended ended
31 Mar 20010 31 Mar 2009
Cent Cent
Loss per share
From continuing and discontinued operations
- Basic {per share) 09 18
- Diluted (per share) 09 18
From continuing operations
- Basic (per share) 09 18 ‘
- Diluted {per share) 09 18 \
The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic loss per share are |
as follows
Basic and diluted
Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€'000 €'000
Loss for the year 1,544 2,768 |
\
Loss used in the calculation of total basic loss per share 1,544 2,768 ;
The Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares in 1ssue because it is loss making
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Number of Number of
shares shares
'000 ‘000
For basic and diluted loss per share 164,412 155,718
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15. Loss per ordinary share (continued)

The loss used in the calculation of all diluted loss per share measures are the same as those for the equivalent

basic loss per share measures, as outline above

The following potential additional ordinary shares are not dilutve and are therefore excluded from the weighted

average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted loss per share

Basic and diluted

Year Year

ended ended

31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009

‘000 ‘000

Employee options (Note 24) 69 85
Convertible ioan notes (Note 22) 2,190 2,190
Share warrants (Note 23) 105,597 142,440
107,856 144,715
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16 Intangible assets

Group and Company

As 1 Apnl 2008
Cost

Accumulated amortisation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 March 2009
Opening net bock amount
Additions

Amortisation charge? (Note 9 and 12)
Closing net book amount

At 31 March 2009

Cost

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31 March 2010
Opening net bock amount
Additions

Amortisation charge? (Note 9 and 12)
Closing net book amount

At 31 March 2010

Cost

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Net book amount

Know-how Licence fee R&D costs' Total
€000 €000 €000 €'000
48 81 2,809 2,938
(17 (81) - {98)
31 - 2,809 2,840
31 - 2,809 2,840
- - 5,409 5,409
(3) - - (3)
28 - 8,218 8,246
48 81 8,218 8,347
(20) (81) - (101)
28 - 8,218 8,246
28 - 8,218 8,248
- - 4,376 4,376
(2) - - (2)
26 - 12,594 12,620
48 81 12,594 12,723
(22) (81) - (103)
26 - 12,584 12,620

' The Company capitalised development costs in the amount of €4 4 million for the year {2008 €5 4 miikon) as an
internally generated intangible asset for EPO programmes The amount of €0 2 milion (2008 €0 4 million) was
recognised as Research and non-capitalised development cost and charged to operating expenses in the income

statement Further details are shown in Note 4 1

2 Amortisation of €2 469 (2009 €3,183) 1s included in the ‘administrative expenses’ i the income statement
* There are no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives All amortisation charges in the year have been charged

through Administrative expenses
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17 Propenrty, plant and equipment

Group and Company

As 1 April 2008
Cost

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31 March 2009

Opening net book amount

Additions

Depreciation charge' (Note 9 and 12)

Closing net book amount

At 31 March 2009
Cost

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31 March 2010

Opentng net book amount

Additions

Disposal/Sale

Cumulative depreciation on Disposal/Sale

Depreciation charge' (Note 9 and 12)

Closing net book amount

At 31 March 2010
Cost

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Net book amount

Leasehold
improvements
fland and Office Fixtures and Plant and
buildings equipment fitings  machinery Total
€'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
4,946 735 147 3,545 9,373
(2,703) {461) (75) (1,933) (5,172)
2,243 274 72 1,612 4,201
2,243 274 72 1,612 4,201
61 53 67 138 319
(480) {130} (19) (370) (999)
1,824 197 120 1,380 3,521
5,007 788 214 3,683 9,692
(3,183) (591) (94) (2,303) 6,171)
1,824 197 120 1,380 3,621
1,824 197 120 1,380 3,521
- 60 - 2 62
- - - (73) (73)
- - - 52 52
(480) {(119) 21) (371) (891)
1,344 138 29 990 2,571
5,007 848 214 3,612 9,681
(3.663) (710) (115) (2,622) {7.110)
1,344 138 99 930 2,571

! Depreciation expense of €991,479 (2009 €999,238) has been charged in Administrative expenses In the

Company's income statement

There i1s no finance lease rental expense relating to the lease of plant, machinery and equipment included in the
income statement Leasehold land and bulldings are held under operating leases (Note 12)
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18 Investment in subsidiarnies

Company €'000
As at 1 April 2008

Cost 10
Accumulated amortisation and impairment -
Net book amount 10
Year ended 31 March 2009

Opening net book amount 10

Acquisition of subsichary -

Closing net book amount 10
As at 31 March 2009

Cost 10
Accumulated amortisation and impairment -
Neat bock amount 10
Year ended 31 March 2010

Opening net book amount 10

Acquisition of subsidiary -

Closing net book amount 10
As at 31 March 2010
Cost 10

Accumulated amortisation and impairment -

Net book amount 10
Prncipal group nvestments

The parent company has investments in the following subsidiary undertakings

a) GeneMedix Ireland Limited incorporated in Ireland with 50% ordinary shareholding The company I1s not
operational
b) Brometrix Marketing Private Limited incorporated in Singapore with 99% of voting shares ownership (99%

of Class A shares — that confers nght to vote, dividend, and return of capital upon liquidation, to the extent
available, with no nght to participate 1n the surplus assets, If any) Specific objective of the company 1s o
engage in marketing, distnbution and sale of all or any of biological, chemical, biochemical,
pharmaceutical, pharmacological, medicinal, and related products The accounts of Biometrix Marketing

Private Limited are not consolidated with Group accounts in accordance with paragraphs 13, 14 and 15 of
IAS 27
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19. inventories

Group Company
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar2009 31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€000 €000 €'000 €'000
Finished goods — bulk 110 167 110 357
Raw matenals and consumables 235 280 235 280
345 647 345 647

There 1s no matenatl difference between the Statement of Financial Position value of stocks and therr replacement
cost

20 Trade and other receivables

Group Company
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar2009 31Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€'000 €000 €000 €'000
Trade receivables 159 175 159 175
Amount due on disposal of subsidiary - 202 - 202
Other receivables 15 307 15 307
Prepayments 64 84 64 84
238 768 238 768

Trade recervables are non-interest beanng and are generally on up to 30 day terms

As at 31 March 2010, no imparrment 1s provided for trade receivables, as the directors believe that full amount will
be recovered

The Group considers that the carrying amount of other recevables approximates their fair value

As at 31 March 2010, the aged analysis of trade recevables was as follows

Total  Neither past Past due but
due nor not impared
Group and Company
impared <30 days 30-60days
€000 €'000 €000 €'000
2010 159 - 45 114
2009 175 - - 175
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21 Trade and other payables

Group Company

31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009 31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009

€000 €'000 €'000 €000

Current 1,379 1,712 1,379 1,712
Trade payables

Other payables 24 400 24 400

Accruals 170 215 170 215

Interest accrued on 4% convertible foan note 246 185 246 185

1,819 2,512 1,819 2,512

The Group considers that the carrying amount of irade and other payables approximates their fair value

Terms and conditions of the above financial iabilittes Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are settled in
accordance with the terms and conditions agreed with suppliers, subject to those terms and conditions being
fulfiled by the supplier The average credit perod on purchase of goods and service I1s 62 days (2009 70 days)
No interest charged on the trade payables for the first 80 days from the date of the invoice

Non-current

Interest accrued on 7% unsecured loan 229 - 229 -
229 - 229 -

The interest on the unsecured loan reflects the current market rate, therefore, there 15 no far value adjustment
being made

22 Borrowings

Group Company
31Mar2010 31 Mar2009 31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€'000 €000 €'000 £€'000
Current
4% convertible loan note due 2008 - transferred
from non-current habilities* 1,687 1,687 1,687 1,687
Equity component (437) (437) {437) (437)
Currency translation difference (276) {324) (276) {324)
Amortisation cost 106 106 106 106
1,080 1,032 1,080 1,032

|
* The Company 1s In discussion with the loan note holder with regard to settlement and / or conversion of 4% €17 |
million {denominated in sterling for the amount of £ 1,177,442) The loan note was due in August 2008 and
therefore has been included in current borrowings at 31 March 2009 and at 31 March 2010 The equity component
of €436,918 has been credited to Capital reserve — see Note 25 The loan note I1s convertible into 2,189,848 ‘

\

additional Ordinary Shares
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — Continued

22 Borrowing (continued)
Group Company
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar2009 31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€'000 €000 €'000 €'000
Non-current
7% unsecured loan*® 5,485 - 5,485 -
5,485 - 5,485 -

* On 8 January 2010, the Company entered into a 7% unsecured loan agreement with Rehance Life Sciences P
Ltd, India This gives us access to funds of up to €10 million, which the Company could draw down at mutually
acceptable tmes between 1 Apnl 2009 and 31 March 2010 After further negotiation, the period for draw-downs
has been extended to 31 March 2011 The total of loans wil have to be repaid back in three equal instalments on
31 March 2012, 2013 and 2014

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual matunty for its borrowings As required by IFRS 7,
the tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial habilites based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay The table includes both interest and principal cash flows

Maturity analfysts of borrowings

Less than Between Between Greater than
3 months  3-12 months 1-2 years 2 years Total
€000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €000

As at 31 March 2010
4% convertible loan note* 1,570 - - - 1,570
7% unsecured loan** - - 1,905 3,809 5,714
Total borrowings 1,570 - 1,905 3,809 7,284
As at 31 March 2009
4% convertible loan note* 1,450 - - - 1,450
Total borrowings 1,450 - - - 1,450

* The Company 15 1n discussion with the note holder with regard to settiement and / or conversion of 4%
€1,323,574 (denominated in sterling for the amount of £1,177,442), which fell due at 31 August 2008

The interest charged of the convertible loan note for the year 1s calculated by applying an effective interest rate of
10% The habihty component 1s measured at amortised cost The difference between the carrying amount of the
habilites €1 2 million (£1,132,671) at 31 March 2009 and the amount reported in the Statement of Financial
Position at 31 March 2010 €1 3 million (£1,179,769) represents the effective interest rate, plus the movement on
currency translation difference, less interest paid to that date

**The interest charged of the unsecured loan for the year 1s calculated by applying an effective interest rate of 7%
As the interest rate reflects the market rate, hence no farr value adjustment 1s made
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22 Borrowing {continued)

Currency analysis of borrowings
All current borrowings are denominated in Pound Stering for current year and pnor year All non-current
borrowings are denomnated in Euro for current year

Interest rate analysis — effective rates

31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009

% %
4% convertible loan note* (currency in Pound Sterling) 10 10 u
7% unsecured loan (currency in Euro) 7 -

* 4% convertibie loan note carries a weighted effective interest rate of 10%

Fair value ‘

The following table details the carrying amount of non-current habiities, compared with the fair value

31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
Carrying amou Carrying
€000 Far value amount Fair value
€'000 €'000 €00
7% unsecured Loan 5,485 5,485 -
5,485 5,485 -

At 31 March 2010 and 2009 the carrying value of financial assets and all other financial habiliies 1s approximate to
fair value

e — —— — e
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23. Share capital and premium

Authonsed

The share capital of the Company 13 dencminated in Pounds Sterling and the number of new shares 1ssued 1s
based on the cash receipt equivalent in Pounds Stering The nominal ordinary share price IS translated to € at the
Statement of Financtal Position rate for presentation purposes

The authonsed share capital of the Company and the called-up and fully-paid amounts were as follows

Number of Ordinary Share
shares shares premium Total
‘000 €'000 €'000 €'000
As at 1 Apnl 2009 (€0 13/£0 10 per share) 155,718 22,305 39,538 61,843
As at 31 March 2009 (€0 11/£0 10 per share) 155,718 22,305 39,538 61,843
As at 31 March 2010 (€0.11/£0.10 per share) 190,495 26,412 41,601 68,013

During the year, RLS has subscrnibed 34,777,032 shares in cash at a price of €0 134 (£0 125) per ordinary share
for the total amount of €5,134,299 (£4,347,129) for some warrant shares The said shares were 1ssued In
December 2009

The total authonsed number of ordinary shares 1s 302 millicn shares (2009 302 million shares} with a par value of
€0 11 /£0 10 per share (2009 €0 11/£0 10 per share) All issued shares are fully paid

Share warrants

The Company has by an instrument dated 2 February 2007, issued a warrant, representing 140,374,297 additional
Ordinary Shares pursuant to a put/call agreement dated 18 December 2006 Relance Life Sciences Private
Limited (“RLS") has the nght to subscnbe In cash at a price of €0 11 /£0 125 per ordinary share for some or all of
the warrant shares durnng a five-year penod The outstanding warrant shares as at 31 March 2010 are
105,597,265 (2009 140,374,297)

in addition to the above a warrant representing 2,065,205 additional Ordinary Shares lapsed dunng the year

The Company does not reclassify an instrument following a change of circumstances which, had it occurred before
initial recognition of the instrument, would have changed its classification
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24.Share-based payments

Share options granted under the unapproved scheme have a fixed price based on the market price at the date of
the grant The contractual life of the options 1s 10 years Options cannot normally be exercised before the third
anniversary of the date of the grant For options granted to all directors and employees, the optons are
exercisable after the vesting penod Within three working days from exercising options, option holders have to pay
the Company the total exercised option price by cheque

Employees have been granted options over shares in the Company under the unapproved share option scheme
as follows

1 Apr 2009 Numberof Numberof Number of Exercise
number after options options  options 31 Mar 2010 Price
conschdation forfeited granted exercised number € Latest exercise date

10,000 (10,000) - - - 10 90 21/05/2011

10,000 - - - 10,000 444  12/11/20%1
4,500 - - - 4,500 517 17122011
4,500 - - - 4,500 534  04/01/2012 to 07/01/2012
2,500 - - - 2,500 489  08/04/2012
3,500 - - - 3,500 495  22/04/2012
4,500 - - - 4,500 270  22/07/2012
4,500 - - - 4,500 202 06/08/2012 to 02/12/2012
3,500 - - - 3,500 140 12/11/2013
3,500 - - - 3,500 146 10/11/2013
2,000 (2,000) - - - 171 01/03/2014 to 13/07/2014
3,500 - - - 3,500 1562 23/08/2014

17,500 - - - 17,500 126  23/11/2014
3,000 - - - 3,000 112 12/07/2015
4,000 - - - 4,000 103 12/07/2015
3,500 (3,500) - - - 0 51 17/10/2015

84,500 (15,500) - - 69,000
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24. Share-based payments {continued)

Equity-seltied share-based payments
Employee Share Option Plan

31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
Number of WAEP* Number of WAEP*
ophtions € options €

At the beginning of the year 40,500 119 45,500 134
Options granted - - - -
Optiens exercised - - - -
Options forfeited {5,500) (0 95) {5,000) {0 84)
At the end of the year 35,000 1.29 40,500 119
Range of exercise prices € 103to 152 049510 164
Options exercisable at the end of year 35,000 40,500

* weighted average exercise pnce

The options outstanding at 31 March 2010 had a weighted average exercise price of €1 29, and a weighted
average remaining contractual Iife of 4 5 years (2009 5 6 years)

The farr value of the options 1s estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes pricing model The following
table gives the assumptions apphed tec the options granted in the respective periods shown

Year Year
ended ended
31 31 Mar 2009

Weighted average share price (€) 129 119
Weighted average exercise price (€) 1.29 119
Expected volatility (%) 100% 82%
Expected Iife (years) 10 10
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4.2% 33%
Expected dividend yield (%) None None
Werghted average fair value of shares (€) 117 099

The expected volatility 1s based on the historical volatiity of the underlying secunty (calculated based on the
standard dewviation of the month to month loganthmic pnce returns expressed as an annual percentage) adjusted
for any expected changes to future volatiity due to publicly avallable information The nsk free interest rate 1s the
yield on zero-coupon UK government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life

The Group recognised a total expense of €941 and NIL related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions
for the year ended 31 March 2009 and year ended 31 March 2010 respectively
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25 Other reserves

Group and Cormnpany

Balance at 1 Apni 2008

Balance at 31 March 2009
Transfer to share premium on issue of share

Balance at 31 March 2010

Continued

Total
Capital Warrant Exchange other
reserve”  reserve” reserve™ reserves
€000 €'000 €'000 €000
437 4183 (643) 3,977
437 4,183 (643) 3,977
- (1,038) - (1,036)
437 3,147 (643} 2,941

1) Capital reserve Is the equity element of convertible loan notes 1ssued by the Company

W) Warrant reserve (s the farr value of share warrant issued by the Company DBunng the year, RLS has
subscnbed o 34,777,032 shares out of total 140,374,207 warrant shares The proportionate amount of
warrant reserve 1s transferred to share premium on issue of shares

) Exchange reserve represents the cumulative foreign currency translation difference of the Group The Group’s
functional currency have changed to Euro (€) from GBP (£) and Euro (€) from 1 Apn! 2008, The Exchange
reserve was carned forward from 31 March 2008, as a result of the cumulative balance of functional currency

bemng translated into presentation currency Any movements on currency translation of non-monetary assets
and habiities and a change in functional currency will go to Other Comprehensive Income Further detalls in

Note24and 4 3
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26. Cash flow from operating activities

Group and Comparny

Loss for the year
Adjustments for
Finance costs
Finance income
Other income
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Deferred Tax
Amortisation of intangible assets

Share-based payments

Operating cash flows before movement in working capital

Decrease/(increase) in iInventones
Decrease in trade and other receivables
{Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables

Cash used in operations

Year Year
ended ended
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€'000 €000
(1,544) (2,768}
283 85
(1 (34)
(3) -
991 999
(960) {1,297)
2 3
- i
(1,232) (3,011)
302 (126)
337 600
(699) 31
(1,292) (2,506)
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27. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on dailly bank deposit rates Short-term deposits are made for
varying pertods of between one day and three months depending on the cash requirements of the Group and earn
interest at the respective short-term deposit rate The carrying amount of these assets approximates ther far
value as at the Statement of Financial Position date

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are ‘cash at hand and in bank’ Cash and
cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement can be reconciled to the
related items In the Statement of Financial Position as follows

31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009

€'000 €000
Restnicted cash (Note 2 10) 184 176
Cash at hand and in bank 134 169
318 345
28 Commitments ‘
The Group leases property and office equipments under operating leases The Group has sub-leased property to a
third party The rents payable under lease and receivable under sub-lease are subject to renegotation at various

intervals specified in the leases/sub-leases The Group pays for substantially all of the msurance and mamtenance

and reparr of these assets |
|

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

Egquipment Buildings
31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009 31 Mar 2010 31 Mar 2009
€'000 €'000 €000 €000
No later than 1 year - 2 {124) 3
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 1 - - (11 ‘
Later than 5 years - - 2,725 2.960‘

1 2 2,601 2,871‘

In addihion, the Group has committed to undertake certain climical tnals on behalf of its partners under development
and hcensing agreements The Group 1s committed to make certain payments to third parties contingent upon
future events such as the approval and launch of products Estimated amount of such commuitted payments 1s €1 8
mithon, however such amount will vary depending on progress of the development programme

29 Contingencies

The company 1s involved in litigation with a third party resulting from the termination of a secondary manufactunng
agreement The directors, supported by advice from the company's legal team, expect that this maiter will be
successfully resolved without any payment and consequently no provision in respect of the matter 1s included in
the financia! statements Additional disclosures are not given as the directors believe that it would be senously

prejudicial to the company’s posihon in the matter to do so Legal costs in relation to this matter have been
expensed as incurred
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30 Related party transactions
The immediate parent and ultimate controlling party respectively of the Group are Rehkance Life Sciences B V
(incorporated in Netherland) and Reliance Life Sciences Prnivate Limited (incorporated in India)

Transactions between the Company and its consolidated subsidiary, which is a related party of the Company, have
been eliminated on consohlidation and are not disclosed in this note

Trading transactions

Duning the year, group entittes made sales of EPO worth € 409,948 (2008 €607,720), sold used equipment worth
€23,713 (2009 €NIL) and clirica! research services worth €158,417 (2008 €NIL) were provide to Rehance Life
Sciences Pnvate Limited, India (*RLS") The balance due from RLS as on 31 March 2010 1s €158,817 (2009
€174,753)

Dunng the year, clinical research services worth €408,418 (2005 €NIL) were received from RLS The balance due
to RLS as on 31 March 201015 €408,418 (2009 €NIL)

The net balance due to RLS as on 31 March 201015 €249,601 (2009 €174,753)

Dunng the year, clinical research services worth €119,758 (2009 €125,078) were received from Reliance Clinical
Research Services Sp z oo, Poland (‘“RCRSS"), a subsidiary of RLS The balance due to RCRSS as on 31
March 201015 €119,758 (2009 €125,078)

Dunng the year, clinical research services worth €501 (2009 €105,153) were received from Reliance Chinical
Research Services Private Limited, India, (“RCRS"), a subsichary of RLS The balance due to RCRS as on 31
March 2010 1s €501 (2009 €102,254)

Dunng the year, company made purchase of used IT equipments werth €59,448 from Rehance Life Sciences Inc ,
US, ("RLSUS", a subsidiary of RLS The balance due to RLSUS as on 31 March 2010 is €59,448

Dunng the year, the Company made sales of packing matenals worth €1,552 to Reliance Biopharmaceuticals
Private Limuted, India, ("RBPL"}, a subsidiary of RLS The balance due from RBPL as on 31 March 2010 1s €NIL

Loans from related parties
Dunng the year, the Company received an amount of €5,485,000 from RLS as a loan The outstanding balance
including interest accrued as on 31 March 2010 1s €5,714,172

31. Ultimate parent undertaking
The ultimate parent company of Reliance GeneMedix Plc 1s Reliance Life Sciences Private Limited, which 1s
incorporated and registered in Incha

Reliance Life Sciences Private Limited is the only undertaking for which financial statements which inciude the

consolidated financial statements of Reliance GeneMedix Plc are drawn up These financial statements are not
bublicly available
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32 Post Statement of Financial Position event

There 1s no other event after 31 March 2010 that requires disclosure or adjustment to these financial statements,
other than certain non-adjusting events set out in the directors report

33 Approval of financial statements
The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for i1ssue on 26 August 2010
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